## **SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC06-993**

## FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY, SPECIALISTS, P.A., etc., et al.,

Petitioners.

VS.

RAMBABU TUMMALA, M.D., et al.,

Fifth District Court of Appeal Case No. 5D05-1950 L.T. Case No.: 04 CA 2843

Respondent.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY SPECIALISTS, P.A., a Florida professional association,** LAKE COUNTY ONCOLOGY & HEMATOLOGY, P.A., a Florida professional association and ROY M. AMBINDER, M.D.,

## H. GREGORY MCNEILL, ESQUIRE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendants/Appellants Florida Hematology & Oncology Specialists, P.A. ("Florida Hematology") and Lake County Oncology & Hematology, P.A. ("Lake County Oncology") (sometimes collectively referred to as the "Practice") invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, which affirmed an Order granting in part and denying in part a Motion for Temporary Injunction to prevent Rambabu Tummala, M.D. from violating certain valid restrictive covenants contained in his Employment Agreement with Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology. (A-934); <u>Florida Hematology & Oncology v. Tummala</u>, 927 So.2d 135 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006).

Roy M. Ambinder, M.D. ("Ambinder") is a medical doctor board certified in the specialties of oncology and hematology. (A-50; lines 11-12) In the early 1980s, Ambinder started Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology, servicing the areas of oncology and hematology. (A-50; lines 16-23)

From the outset, Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology operated medical practices in Orange County, Florida and in Lake County, Florida, respectively. (A-51; lines 2-5) Over time, the Practice flourished and multiple office locations were opened in both Orange and Lake Counties. As the Practice grew, Ambinder found it necessary to hire additional doctors. (A-51; lines 9-12)

1

In 1996, the Practice hired Plaintiff Rambabu Tummala, M.D. ("Tummala").<sup>1</sup> (A-51; lines 19-21) Tummala is a physician specializing in oncology and hematology and his employment with the Practice was his first in private practice. (A-51; line 25; A-52; lines 1-3) Ambinder assigned Tummala to the Lake County Oncology's office in Tavares, Florida. (A-52; lines 4-7) Tummala had neither lived nor worked previously in Lake County, Florida. Tummala had no relationships with any patients, hospitals, primary care physicians or referring physicians in Lake County, Florida prior to his employment with the Practice. (A-427; lines 4-23)

The Practice supported Tummala in his efforts to become an established physician in Lake County, Florida. (A-52; lines 14-25; A-53; lines 1-8) Tummala received introductions to referring physicians in the area; Tummala obtained privileges in the major hospitals of Lake County, Florida; the Practice advertised Tummala's association with Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology; the Practice paid Tummala's malpractice premiums, paid all expenses associated with his continuing medical education, paid his hospital staff fees and otherwise supported him in the effort to become an established physician in Lake County. (A-54; lines 9-25; A-55; lines 1-3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Tummala executed an employment agreement which contained a restrictive covenant when he was hired. However, the original employment agreement was superseded and is not the subject of this litigation.

In 1999, Ambinder offered Tummala and another doctor, Ralph Gousse, the opportunity to become equal shareholders in the Practice. (A-55; lines 1-25) In connection therewith, Tummala, Gousse and Ambinder each executed new employment agreements and shareholders' agreements with Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology. As a result, Drs. Tummala, Gousse and Ambinder were each now 33 1/3% shareholders of the two corporations and equal partners in the Practice.

Each doctor's respective employment agreement with the Practice contains restrictive covenants pursuant to which Tummala, Gousse and Ambinder agreed to not practice medic ine within a 15 mile radius of any office of Florida Hematology or Lake County Oncology for two years after termination of employment. Specifically, Tummala's Employment Agreement with Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology contained the following restrictive covenant:

14. <u>Covenant Not to Compete</u>: Employee shall not, during the Employee's employment with the Corporation [the Practice] and for an additional period of two (2) years from and after the termination of Employee's employment with Corporation for any reasons engage, directly or indirectly, in the practice of medicine within an area comprised of a fifteen (15) mile radius [of] any office of the Corporation. The parties acknowledge that the above area constitutes the geographic service area of the Corporation. The parties further acknowledge that the above restrictions with respect to duration and geographic limitations are reasonable, and that the Corporation would suffer irreparable injury as a result of the breach thereof by the Employee . . .

The Practice continued to expand and by 2004, Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology had a total of seven offices at the following addresses:

- 1. 110 North Boulevard East Leesburg, Florida 34748
- 1400 U.S. Highway 441/27 North Building 500, Suite 537 The Villages, Florida 32159
- 3. 1120 Citrus Tower Boulevard Clermont, Florida 34711
- 4. 2501 North Orange Avenue, Suite 201 Orlando, Florida 32804
- 5. 4106 Lake Mary Boulevard Suite 110 Lake Mary, Florida 32746
- 6. 616 E. Altamonte Drive, Suite 100 Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701
- 7. 4100 Waterman Way Tavares, Florida 32778

By 2004, Tummala was spending 100% of his time divided between three of the Practice's offices in Lake County: Tavares, Leesburg and The Villages. (A-79; lines 1-4) During his eight years with the Practice, Tummala received referrals of oncology patients from at least 18 referral physicians and their practices.<sup>2</sup> In late 2003/early 2004, Tummala attempted to convince Gousse to leave the Practice and to join him in starting a new practice in Lake County, Florida. (A-327; lines 15-25; A-328; lines 1-7) When Gousse declined, Tummala declared his intention to leave the Practice notwithstanding. (A-328; lines 4-10) Given Tummala's pending departure, the Practice desired to hire additional doctors. However, Tummala refused to agree to the hiring of additional physicians.<sup>3</sup> (A-96; lines 17-25)

Tummala then asked to be relieved of the obligations of his restrictive covenant. The Practice declined Tummala's request. (A-329; lines 4-19; A-432; lines 8-23) On April 8, 2004, Tummala was provided with the required 90 days' written notice of termination without cause. (A-335; lines 15-19; A-820)

Tummala immediately began making arrangements to practice in Leesburg, Florida. Approximately 75 days before his termination became effective, Tummala formed a new entity for the purpose of practicing oncology and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It was undisputed at the hearing for temporary injunction that an oncology practice, like most specialty practices, depends primarily upon referrals from other doctors for its patients. In its opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal described these referral relationships as "perhaps [Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology's] most crucial business interests." <u>Florida Hematology</u>, at page 138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pursuant to the Shareholders' Agreement, the hiring of an additional physician requires consent of all shareholders; if one shareholder dissents and refuses to approve a new hire, the Practice is unable to hire new physicians until the dissenting shareholder's employment is terminated.

hematology: "Cancer Centers of Central Florida, P.A." (A-335; lines 20-25; A-336; line 1; A-821) Further, while still an employee of the Practice, Tummala located new office space in Leesburg, Florida and began negotiations to bease the space from its owner. (A-336; line 6-25)

Tummala's last day of employment with the Practice was July 8, 2004. In August 2004, Tummala initiated this litigation. Tummala admitted that notwithstanding his restrictive covenant with Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology, he opened an office in Leesburg, Florida, at 9826 U.S. Highway 441, Suite 101, Leesburg, Florida, well within a 15 mile radius of the Practice's Leesburg office and is actively practicing oncology and hematology. (A-416; lines 8-17) Further, Tummala has admitted to seeking and obtaining referrals of patients from at least 18 referral physicians and their practices with whom he established referral relationships while an employee of the Practice. (A-337; lines 22-25; A-338; lines 1-9; A-434; A-435; A-436; A-437; lines 1-15)

The Honorable William G. Law, Jr. of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit for Lake County, Florida presided over a two-part evidentiary hearing upon the Practice's Motion for Temporary Injunction conducted on March 8, 2005 and on April 8, 2005. The Practice presented evidence of Tummala's violation of the restrictive covenant and of at least three (3) "legitimate business interests" justifying the restrictive covenant:

1. Relationships with existing patients;

2. Its exclusive oncology practice agreement with Florida Hospital Waterman in Tavares, Florida; and

3. Its referral relationships with area physicians.<sup>4</sup>

As to the third legitimate business interest, after setting up his competing practice, Tummala admitted that he had continued to seek and accept referrals from the same physicians and their practices with whom he had developed relationships during his eight (8) years with the Practice. The Practice presented uncontradicted evidence to the trial court that the volume of referrals to the Practice from these same referral sources declined between 50% and 60% since Tummala began competing within the prohibited 15 mile geographic radius.

Nevertheless, the trial court relied upon the First District Court of Appeal's holding in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees vs. Sanal</u>, 837 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) in refusing to enter injunctive relief premised upon protecting the Practice's legitimate business interests in its referral relationships with area physicians. The injunction entered by the trial court prohibited Tummala only from rendering medical services to <u>existing</u> patients of the Practice but did not otherwise enjoin him from competing within the fifteen (15) mile radius.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The conflict addressed by this Brief relates only to Petitioners' legitimate business interests in referral relationships.

The Practice took an appeal of the trial court's order primarily on the grounds that it had failed to enter injunctive relief to protect the Practice's legitimate business interest in its referral relationships with referral physicians and their practices.

In its Opinion filed April 21, 2006, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court. <u>Florida Hematology & Oncology v. Tummala</u>, 927 So.2d 135 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006). In affirming the trial court's denial of injunctive relief to protect the referral relationships, the Fifth District recognized that its Opinion conflicted with the Third District Court of Appeal's holding on the same issue. <u>Id.</u>, at Footnote 4.

On May 18, 2006, the Practice filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered on April 21, 2006 on the grounds that the decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal. On September 11, 2006, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Florida Statute §542.335, a contract may contain a restrictive covenant if the restrictive covenant is reasonable in time, area and line of business. Moreover, the restrictive covenant must be reasonably necessary to protect one or more "legitimate business interests" of the party seeking enforcement. <u>See</u> Fla.

8

Stat. §542.335(1)(b). The trial court *sub judice* partially denied the Practice's Motion for Temporary Injunction, and refused to enforce the restrictive covenant as written or to otherwise fashion injunctive relief to protect the Practice's legitimate business interest in its referral relationships. Accordingly, the trial court refused to enjoin Tummala from rendering medical services within a 15 mile radius of the Practice's offices for two years, as required by the restrictive covenant in his employment agreement. The District Court of Appeal for the Fifth District affirmed.

In affirming, the Fifth District stated that the relationships with referral physicians were "perhaps [the Practice's] most crucial business interest." <u>Id.</u>, at p. 138. The Fifth District had no difficulty reaching this conclusion because in the court below, the Practice provided unrebutted evidence of a 50 to 60 percent loss of referrals from the same referral physicians and a corresponding loss of patients, occasioned by Tummala's violation of his restrictive covenants. Significantly, Tummala admitted to receiving referrals from at least 18 referral physicians and their practices based on relationships that, with the Practice's financial support, he developed over the eight (8) years he was employed by Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology.

Although the announced basis for the trial court's decision not to enjoin Tummala was its reliance upon <u>Sanal, supra</u>., that reliance was misplaced. Unlike the unrebutted facts in the case at bar, Dr. Sanal <u>did not receive any referrals from</u> <u>referring physicians</u> with whom he had previously worked. Furthermore, the Plaintiff in <u>Sanal</u> did not demonstrate any significant decrease in its hematology/oncology patient load. <u>Sanal</u>, at p. 514.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal also relied in part on <u>Sanal</u> and held that it saw "no way to recognize referring physicians as a legitimate business interest and still give effect to the plain language of the statute." <u>Florida Hematology</u>, at p. 139. However, the plain language of the Statute does not prohibit courts from recognizing referral relationships as a legitimate business interest. Moreover, courts in other jurisdictions have recognized that the referral relationship constitutes a legitimate business interest worthy of protection. <u>See e.g. Ruhl v.</u> J.E. Hanger Co., Inc., 1992 WL 223738 (Ohio Ct. App. 1992); <u>Fields Foundation</u>, <u>Ltd. v. Christiensen</u>, 103 Wis.2d 465 (Wis. Ct. App. 1981); <u>Bruce D. Graham v.</u> <u>Cirocco</u>, 31 Kan. App.2d 563 (Kan. Ct. App. 2003); <u>Medical Associates of</u> <u>Menomonee v. Baldwin</u>, 153 Wis. 2d 397 (Wis. Ct. App. 1989); <u>Battenkill</u> <u>Veterinary Equine v. Cangelosi</u>, 1 A.D.3d 856 (NY. Sup. Ct. 2003).

As observed by the Fifth District, referral relationships are of the utmost importance in certain businesses, such as medical specialists. Those relationships must be protectable by restrictive covenant. Additionally, by refusing to enforce the restrictive covenant to protect the referral relationship, the courts are interfering with the parties' right to contract. Because **i**t is a fundamental right of competent parties to be able to negotiate and execute contracts without interference by the courts, the holdings below abridge that freedom by allowing Tummala to avoid his contractual obligations even though the obligations are not statutorily or constitutionally prohibited. It is clear that courts should not interfere with a contract unless the contract is illegal or violates the Federal or State Constitutions or state statutes. The restrictive covenant at issue here does none of those things.

Finally, the impact of this ruling will be widespread. The inability of a medical specialty practice to protect its referral relationships will have a negative impact upon the recruitment and hiring of specialists to meet patient needs because practices will be unable to protect their "most crucial business interests." Moreover, referral relationships are not just crucial business interests for medical specialists but any business or occupation which expends effort, money and energy to cultivate referral relationships. In short, these businesses will be adversely affected if it is decided that referral relationships are not a legitimate business interest that can be protected by a restrictive covenant.

### ARGUMENT

#### **Standard of Review**

The conflict between the Fifth District Court of Appeal and the First and Third District Courts of Appeals is based upon the Fifth District's interpretation of Florida Statute §542.335 and is an issue of statutory construction. On appeal, the issue of statutory construction is subject to *de novo* review. <u>See Waste Management, Inc. v. Mora, 2006 WL 288 3208, \*2 (Fla. 2006).</u>

The Fifth District erred in <u>Florida Hematology's Oncology v. Tummala</u>, <u>supra</u>., by its interpretation of Florida Statute §548.335 to preclude protection of Petitioners' legitimate business interests in referring physician relationships:

- a) Florida Statute §542.335 does not limit legitimate business interests to the statutory examples;
- b) Other Florida appeals courts have recognized and protected legitimate business interests in referral relationships;
- c) Other jurisdictions have recognized and protected legitimate business interests in referral relationships; and
- d) The plain language of the Statute contemplates and allows referral relationships to be protected as a legitimate business interest.

Restrictive covenants entered into on or after July 1, 1996 are authorized by and governed in accordance with Florida Statute §542.335. Florida Statute

§542.335, in pertinent part, provides as follows:

(1) Notwithstanding s. 542.18 and subsection (2), enforcement of contracts that restrict or prohibit competition during or after the term of restrictive covenants, so long as such contracts are reasonable in time, area, and line of business, is not prohibited. In any action concerning enforcement of a restrictive covenant:

(b)The person seeking enforcement of a restrictive covenant shall plead and prove the existence of one or more legitimate business interests justifying the restrictive covenant. The term "legitimate business interest" includes, but is not limited to:

- 1. Trade secrets, as defined in s. 688.002(4).
- 2. Valuable confidential business or professional information that otherwise does not qualify as trade secrets.
- 3. Substantial relationships with specific prospective or existing customers, patients, or clients.
- 4. Customer, patient, or client goodwill associated with:
  - a. An ongoing business or professional practice, by way of trade name, trademark, service mark, or "trade dress";
  - b. A specific geographic location; or
  - c. A specific marketing or trade area.
- 5. Extraordinary or specialized training.

Thus, in enforcing a restrictive covenant, a trial court is first required to determine that the geographic scope and term of the restrictive covenant are reasonable. Thereafter, the trial court is required to determine that the restrictive covenant is reasonably necessary to protect the one or more legitimate business interests of the party seeking enforcement.

Neither the term nor the geographic scope of the restrictive covenant are issues in this case. By enjoining Tummala at least as to current patients of the Practice, the trial court acknowledged the reasonableness in time and scope of the restrictive covenant and determined that Tummala's "defenses" to the enforcement thereof were not sufficient to preclude at least partial injunctive relief.

#### The Referral Relationship is a Legitimate Business Interest.

Referring physicians are the area doctors who refer their patients to Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology for medical services related only to oncology and hematology. It is unrebutted that the vast majority of patients seen by Florida Hematology and Lake County Oncology are the direct result of referrals from referring physicians and their practices. As an oncologist, Tummala concedes that 80% of his patients come from referring physicians and their practices. (A-338; lines 10-20)

The development and maintenance of relationships with referring physicians is so important to the Practice that it is an actual <u>obligation</u> of employment. (A-62; line 25; A-63; lines 1-25; A-64; lines 1-18) Tummala's employment agreement, at Paragraph 5(e), provides:

"In order to promote the practice of the Corporation and to enhance his professional standing in the community as an employee thereof, the Employee shall be expected to entertain referring and potentially referring physicians. <u>Such practice related entertainment is</u> <u>hereby required specifically as a condition of</u> <u>employment.</u>" (emphasis added)

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