#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY SPECIALISTS, P.A., a Florida professional association, LAKE COUNTY ONCOLOGY & HEMATOLOGY, P.A., a Florida professional association and ROY M. AMBINDER, M.D.,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No. SC06-993

RAMBABU TUMMALA, M.D.,

Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District State of Florida

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

#### THE CARLYLE APPELLATE LAW FIRM

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

legitimate business interest in those referrals. As the Opinion states, the witnesses in this case "all testified that they make their referrals based upon their assessment of the individual doctor to whom they direct their patients. They do not refer to a 'business' or a 'practice.'" <u>Tummala</u>, 927 So. 2d at 139 (App. 115, 159, 188). Other courts have reached the same conclusion.

In *Cardiovascular Surgical Specialists, Corp. v. Mammana*, 61 P.3d 210 (Okla. 2003), the Supreme Court of Oklahoma considered the validity of a noncompete provision a corporation sought to enforce against a former employee, a cardiovascular surgeon. *Id.* at 211. The court noted that, as in Florida, the issue of "'unfair competition' on the part of a former employee is the legitimate focus of a covenant not to compete." *Id.* at 213. The court considered the enforceability of a contract that (unlike the contract in this case) specifically forbade the physician from soliciting, diverting or accepting referrals from any source that referred to the former employer. *Id.* at 214.

The Supreme Court of Oklahoma held that the contractual provision amounted to unfair competition. *Id.* at 214. It went on to find that "[d]octors refer patients to surgeons for cardiovascular surgery, not to corporations. Thus, referrals made to [the physician] were based on factors other than his status as an employee of [the former practice] or his later status as an independent practitioner." *Id.* at 214, n.3. Additionally, the Court noted that the evidence, like the evidence in this case, "demonstrated the personal nature of reputation-dependent referrals" to specialized physicians. *Id.* at 214. Finally, the court concluded that "one surgeon has no legitimate business interest in another surgeon's referral base regardless of a past employer-employee relationship." *Id. See also Pratt v. Grunenwald*, 1994 WL 313050, \*4 (Ohio Ct. App. 1994) (noting that it is a "matter of common sense" that referrals are made to physicians and that a practice can suffer no loss of a referral base because a practice has "no referral base as a corporation").

The logic demonstrated in the Opinion, and in the cases cited above, is clear. A physician, regardless of where he or she practices, obtains referrals because of that physician's reputation in the medical community. That reputation is not a tangible asset of the employer practice subject to misappropriation; rather, it is an intangible asset inextricably tied to the individual.<sup>9</sup> If physicians remaining in a practice share the same positive reputation as a physician who is no longer there, then they will continue to obtain referrals. If they do not have a positive reputation, they will not get the referrals, and banishing the former doctor to a distant location will have no effect on this outcome. Further, those referral sources

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The statute gives examples of the type of tangible assets which may be misappropriated, such as trade secrets or other valuable, confidential business information. *See* § 542.335(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat. (2004).

cannot be made to refer a patient to the practice after a physician leaves (or is fired) from a practice. Once the doctor has left, the competitive nature of the marketplace will dictate where referring physicians send patients. Simply put, a physician who leaves a practice does not unfairly compete with that practice simply because he or she has a positive reputation in the medical community, and that doctor cannot be said to have "misappropriated" his or her reputation from the former practice.<sup>10</sup>

If the reputation of the practice and not the individual doctor were paramount in obtaining referrals from other physicians, then there would be no need to protect such interests because physicians would continue to refer to that practice regardless of which doctors practiced there. Obviously, as common sense indicates,<sup>11</sup> that is not the case.

In conclusion, the Opinion correctly held that section 542.335 prohibited referring physicians from being a legitimate business interest of a medical practice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The trial court correctly applied the principles of misappropriation and unfair competition to its consideration of this matter and concluded that the Petitioners "did not prove that Dr. Tummala has misappropriated any specific business asset that would give him an unfair competitive advantage" over the Petitioners. (App. 936).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>*Pratt v. Grunenwald*, 1994 WL 313050, \*4 (Ohio Ct. App. 1994) (noting that it is a "matter of common sense" that referrals are made to physicians and that a practice can suffer no loss of a referral base because a practice has "no referral base as a corporation").

In addition to the statutory prohibition, the underlying statutory principle of preventing "unfair competition" likewise supports the holding that referring physicians may not constitute legitimate business interests of the practice subject to mis appropriation.

# A. The Florida Decisions Cited By The Petitioners Have No Relevance To This Matter.

The Petitioners cite two cases which they claim recognize a legitimate business interest in referring physicians. Initial Brief, at 19-22. The cases the Petitioners rely upon are *Southernmost Foot and Ankle Specialists, P.A. v. Torregrosa*, 891 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), *rev. dismissed*, 901 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2005), and *Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc. v. Nieves-Garcia*, 826 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). Neither case supports the Petitioners' position.

As noted *supra*, *Southernmost* contains the words "referral doctors," and thus creates an apparent conflict with the Opinion. *See supra* at 4-5. However, *Southernmost* contains no citation, analysis or reasoning which in any way explains why the Third District included those two words in the opinion. Thus, the Petitioners are left to merely quote the portion of *Southernmost* where those two words appear, and they offer no explanation as to why that case has any bearing on the facts of this matter since such reasoning is completely absent from *Southernmost*. Initial Brief, at 20. While the words "referral doctors" appear in *Southernmost*, the opinion offers no guidance applicable to the question of law presented in this case.

The next case that the Petitioners claim "recognized a legitimate business relationship in referral sources" is *Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc. v. Nieves-Garcia*, 826 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002).<sup>12</sup> In *Nieves-Garcia*, a marketing director (not a physician) for a group of magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) centers left the business to work for a competitor. However, at the prior job, the employee was

expected to compile a <u>database</u> on these physicians which contained the nature and idiosyncrasies of their practices, as well as information as to their referral patterns and preferences and which insurance they accepted. There was evidence that OMI had created this <u>database system</u> as part of its confidential strategic marketing plan.

*Id.* at 419 (emphasis added). While the Petitioners cite this language in their Initial Brief as supporting their position, they neglect to provide the citations in *Nieves-Garcia* which immediately follow that quote.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>*Nieves-Garcia* was not mentioned, cited nor relied upon by the Petitioners in their Initial Brief to the Fifth District (Supp. App. A), and it is not cited in the Opinion.

The Third District cited four cases,<sup>13</sup> all of which concerned a purported legitimate business interest in customer lists which were claimed to be trade secrets. *Id.* at 419. Thus, it is clear that the Third District found that the database materials the marketing representative created in *Nieves-Garcia* were trade secrets that rose to the level of legitimate business interests. In this case, the Petitioners did not plead any legitimate business interest concerning trade secrets, and therefore *Nieves-Garcia* has no bearing on this matter.

The Petitioners anticipate this argument and claim that "it cannot be argued that what the Third District was protecting was simply the confidential 'database system' reflecting compiled information about referral sources. . . . [since] [i]f the referral sources themselves do not justify protection by a restrictive covenant, it stands to reason that information regarding those referral patterns are even less worthy of protection." Initial Brief, at 22 n.6.

In making this argument, the Petitioners miss the point. A database established as part of a "confidential strategic marketing plan" of all doctors who refer to a MRI office is a <u>tangible asset</u> subject to misappropriation. This identifiable business asset "represents an investment by the proponent of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>East v. Aqua Gaming, Inc., 805 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Sethscot Collection, Inc., v. Drbul, 669 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Unistar Corp. v. Child, 415 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Erik Elec. Co., Inc. v. Elliott, 375 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

restriction such that, if the asset were misappropriated by a competitor (i.e., taken without compensation), its use . . . would be 'unfair competition.'" John A. Grant, Jr. & Thomas T. Steele, *Restrictive Covenants: Florida Returns to the Original "Unfair Competition" Approach for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*, 70 Fla. B.J. 53, 54 (Nov. 1996). In contrast, the reputation of a physician in a medical community that leads other physicians to refer to him or her is a vastly different situation, and is not an identifiable asset such as a database. A physician's reputation is created by that physician, belongs to him or her, and is not an asset of the employer that may be misappropriated.

#### **B.** Other Jurisdictions Have Recognized That Referring Physicians Are Not A Legitimate Business Interest.

As noted *supra*, authority in other jurisdictions supports the Opinion's conclusion that referring physicians are not a legitimate business interest. *See Cardiovascular Surgical Specialists, Corp. v. Mammana*, 61 P.3d 210, 214 (Okla. 2003) (holding that a practice had no legitimate business interest in referral physicians because doctors refer patients to other doctors not to corporations); *Pratt v. Grunenwald*, 1994 WL 313050, \*4 (Ohio Ct. App. 1994) (noting that it is a "matter of common sense" that referrals are made to physicians and that a practice can suffer no loss of a referral base because a practice has "no referral base as a corporation"). There is a wide divergence among jurisdictions

concerning the wording and application of non-compete statutes, and thus the applicability of a given case must be analyzed not only on a factual level, but on a statutory level as well. None of the cases cited by the Petitioners are particularly relevant to this matter.

The Petitioners first cite *Ruhl v. J.E. Hanger Company, Inc.*, 1992 WL 223738 (Ohio Ct. App. 1992).<sup>14</sup> *Ruhl* did not involve a doctor leaving a medical practice and the critical issue of referring physicians. Rather, it involved a salesman of medical products who took advantage of the former businesses' "established clients." *Id.* at 3; Initial Brief, at 22. Thus, *Ruhl* stands for the unremarkable proposition that a restrictive covenant should be enforced to prevent former employees from soliciting and benefiting from relationships with the former employer's <u>existing</u> clients. The injunction in this case prohibits Tummala from doing just that, and Tummala has conceded this point. (App. 937-38). Therefore, *Ruhl* is of no application to the Petitioners' position.

The next case cited is *Fields Foundation, Ltd. v. Christensen*, 309 N.W. 2d 125 (Wis. Ct. App. 1981). As an initial matter, Wisconsin's restrictive covenant statute varies greatly from the statute at issue in this case, and there is no mention in the Wisconsin statute about "legitimate business interests," the key inquiry in this matter. *Id.*; *see also* Wis. Stat. § 103.465. Nevertheless, *Christensen* did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>The *Ruhl* opinion is not reported in the Northeast Second Reporter.

involve referral doctors as a legitimate business interest, but rather involved a medical director of an abortion clinic who left the practice. Prior to his departure, he "photocopied the [referral] lists in 1979 to provide himself with a 'base' from which to compete with the center and made some contacts with referral agencies and physicians with respect to opening his own clinic." *Id.* at 129. The court held that it would be unfair to allow the defendant to use these lists, a tangible asset, to take away plaintiffs' business. *Id.* at 130. *Christensen* has no bearing on this case.

The Petitioners next cite *Bruce D. Graham, M.D., P.A. v. Cirocco, M.D.*, 69 P.3d 194 (Kan. Ct. App. 2003), which they claim has facts "remarkably similar to the case at bar." Initial Brief, at 23. In reality, *Cirocco's* facts are dramatically different. The most glaring distinction involves the terms of the restrictive covenant at issue in that case. Among other provisions, it provided that once the employee doctor left, patients were to be notified of that fact, and given the address of the departing doctor's new office. *Id.* at 196. The restrictive covenant further provided that "notwithstanding the terms of this non-competition agreement, Cirocco shall be allowed, without violating the terms [of this] agreement, to accept patients, whether they are former or present patients of [Graham], at request, in writing the services of [Cirocco]." *Id.* at 197. Thus, the doctor was not prohibited

from seeing any existing patients, or patients referred to him in the future, so long as the patient specifically requested to see that physician.

In considering the argument that referral physicians were a legitimate business interest, the *Cirocco* court specifically took note of that provision in the restrictive covenant. The court stated:

> The covenant's attempt to prevent predatory behavior at or near the time of Cirocco's exit from Graham's practice while permitting patients and referring doctors to continue to exercise their own choices struck an acceptable balance among the interests of the two parties, the patients, and the referring doctors. It also preserved the efficient and effective operation of the overall healthcare delivery system.

*Id.* at 199 (emphasis added). There is no way to speculate on how the case would have been determined if the restrictive covenant did not contain this provision. In any event, the case is remarkably different from the present matter, which contained no such provision to allow existing or prospective patients to continue to see Tummala if they wished. It is respectfully submitted that if the restrictive covenant in this matter contained such a provision, it is likely that this entire lawsuit would never have happened.

The fourth case the Petitioners cite is *Medical Associates of Menomonee Falls, Ltd. v. Baldwin*, 451 N.W. 2d 804 (Wis. Ct. App. 1989).<sup>15</sup> The Petitioners fail to note that the opinion is unpublished, and under the Wisconsin Rules of Civil Procedure, the opinion has no precedential value.<sup>16</sup> Indeed, the Wisconsin Statutes state that unpublished opinions are forbidden to be used in any court of that state as authority. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(2004). Quite simply, *Baldwin* is factually inapplicable to the present case, and even if it were similar, it would not be legitimate authority in Wisconsin, let alone Florida.

Finally, the Petitioners cite *Battenkill Veterinary Equine P.C. v. Cangelosi*, 1 A.D. 3d 856 (N.Y. App. Div. 2003). In *Battenkill*, and contrary to the present case, the defendant was "admittedly servicing clients she serviced while employed by the plaintiff." *Id.* at 857. The case also focused primarily on the equities involved in the case since New York law (unlike the Florida statute) requires a "balancing of the equities" in making a determination whether or not to enforce a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>The *Baldwin* opinion also involved the Wisconsin statute concerning restrictive covenants which does not have any mention of the term "legitimate business interest."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3) (2004). That statute states: "An unpublished opinion is of no precedential value and for this reason may not be cited in any court of this state as precedent or authority, except to support a claim of claim preclusion, issue preclusion, or the law of the case." *Id.* 

restrictive covenant. *Id.* at 857. No such balancing is mandated in Florida, and therefore the case is factually distinguishable.

# C. The Fifth District's Interpretation of Florida Statute Section 542.335 Is Mandated By The Statute.

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